
 

City of Corunna 
Regular Council Meeting 

Monday, June 7, 2010 
 

Present: Kerridge, Mehigh, Jessen, Sarrazin, Johnson, Haskins, Reichert.  
 
Absent: None. 
 
Guests: Joe Sawyer, City Manager; Merilee Lawson, Assessor/Planner; Judy Horton; Donna 

Kerridge; John Pajtas, County Commissioner; and other concerned citizens. 
 
The meeting was called to order in the council chambers of Corunna City Hall by Mayor Kerridge at  

7:00 p.m. 
 
MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS REGULAR MEETING:  Johnson moved, Jessen seconded to  

approve the previous regular meeting minutes dated May 17, 2010 as presented. 
Roll call vote: 

 Yes: Jessen, Sarrazin, Johnson, Haskins, Reichert, Mehigh.  
 No: None. 
    Motion CARRIED 
 
AGENDA APPROVAL:  Johnson moved, Reichert seconded to approve the agenda as presented. 

Roll call vote: 
Yes: Sarrazin, Johnson, Haskins, Reichert, Mehigh, Jessen. 
No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED 

  
APPROVAL OF VENDOR DISBURSEMENTS:  Johnson moved, Jessen seconded to approve the  
 vendor disbursements dated May 28, 2010 as presented.     

Roll call vote: 
Yes: Johnson, Haskins, Reichert, Mehigh, Jessen, Sarrazin. 
No: None.   

 Motion CARRIED 
 

CALL TO AUDIENCE:  Donna Kerridge, 210 E. McNeil Street, stated her only regret was that Scott 
Johnson was not at the meeting.  Last Tuesday night, her youngest daughter had an 
emergency at her home at 900 N. Shiawassee Street.  She was told that within 10 minutes the 
house would have been like the one on Copas Road due to a smoking electrical fire that had 
not broke into a full fire because there was also a gas leak.  She wanted to thank the fire 
department for a job well done.      

 
CITY MANAGER’S REPORT:  Mr. Sawyer reminded everyone about the construction on North  

Shiawassee Street starting June 14 and that there would be a detour.  He advised the city is 
cracking down on building permit enforcement.  The police department and department of 
public works are being extremely cooperative after he put his foot down.  He noticed that 
people were driving by properties that had work underway before obtaining a building permit.  



 

Not only is it state law that certain work being done to a house requires a building permit, but 
building permit fees are supposed to fund the building department and since it is not, money 
has to be removed from the parks, police and fire department because people are not getting 
building permits.  A bigger part of the situation is the frustration when there is selective 
enforcement.  Some people follow the rules and other people do not and that is not okay.  If 
someone does not have a building permit before starting their work, the fees are doubled as 
per the fee schedule.  Some people are not real happy about that, but it is in the fee schedule.  
Councilperson Jessen asked if replacing a privacy fence requires a building permit.  Mr. 
Sawyer advised under state law a building permit is not needed if it is less than 12 feet, but it 
does require a zoning permit.  He further advised the police department and department of 
public works have been told if they are not sure to write down the address.             

 
CONSIDER REQUEST FROM PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION TO ALLOW A  

CONCESSION STAND IN MCCURDY PARK ON WEEKENDS:  Mr. Sawyer stated 
Richard & Shelly Sliwa live on the corner of Corunna Avenue and Woodworth Street and 
they own a nice concession trailer.  They would like to set up a concession stand on McCurdy 
Park on weekends.  Over the last two weekends, they were allowed to set up the concession 
stand on a trial basis and they were very successful.  They are proposing to pay the city $100 
a month, which will bring in $1,200 a year.  They will not set up their concession stand during 
the Fourth of July or Kith or Kin or any events that the city does not want them to be there.  
He further stated he thought it would be a good addition to the park and will bring in some 
additional revenue as well as cover the utilities.  They also plan to set up the concession stand 
in the winter near the sled hill.  Councilperson Sarrazin asked what vendors are charged to 
rent a table during the garage sale.  Ms. Lawson advised $10 to $20 per booth.  Councilperson 
Haskins asked if there were asking to be exclusive.  Mr. Sawyer advised no.  Councilperson 
Reichert asked if there would be a formal contract given.  Mr. Sawyer advised if council 
approves the request, he would prepare a lease agreement.  Ms. Lawson asked if they have 
insurance.  Mr. Sawyer advised yes, they carry a million dollar liability policy, which they 
have provided to the city.  They also need to get approval from the health department.  
Sarrazin moved, Reichert seconded to allow a concession stand operated by Richard & Shelly 
Sliwa on weekends in McCurdy Park for one year and instruct the city manager to execute an 
appropriate contract. 
Roll call vote: 
Yes: Haskins, Reichert, Mehigh, Jessen, Sarrazin, Johnson. 
No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED 

 
CONSIDER REQUEST FROM PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION TO PURCHASE  

FOUR BENCHES FOR THE SLED HILL AREA:  Mr. Sawyer stated the city was given 
$3,000 from Mark Waters for sled hill improvements, maintenance, etc. to the sled hill.  The 
Parks & Recreation Commission is recommending the purchase of four benches and he 
respects their decision, but this is not the way he would spend $3,000.  Councilperson 
Johnson agreed and stated she thought the benches were very expensive.  Councilperson 
Jessen stated each bench will only seat about three people and he thought it was a lot of 
money to spend on them.  Mr. Sawyer stated the commission’s intent is good and he would 
like to see seating on the sled hill, but you could spend $1,000 on lumber and build benches 



 

that could seat 100 people.  He further stated the sled hill was built with donations and 
volunteers and thought the $3,000 could provide seating and a warming hut.  He will go back 
to the commission and give them some options.  Judy Horton stated she did not really want 
the benches, but she was told at the commission meeting to shut her mouth and go along with 
it.  She knew the commission had already made up their minds and there was no point in 
saying anything.  Mr. Sawyer stated it appears that the commission thinks that they have to 
spend the money by the end of the budget year or they are going to lose it.  The money is in 
the Parks Improvement Fund and has been earmarked for use on the sled hill.  Mayor 
Kerridge stated he spoke to Dr. Mark Miller on the day of the bus fire and they would like a 
list of projects that the carpenter class can build.  Mr. Sawyer stated benches would be a good 
project for them.  Councilperson Sarrazin suggested buying some logs and cutting them to 
make benches.  Mr. Sawyer advised that is what he has pictured for the sled hill.   

 
CONSIDER SATA FUNDING REQUEST FOR 2010/2011 FISCAL YEAR:  Johnson moved, Jessen  

seconded to approve the SATA Funding request for the 2010/2011 fiscal year beginning 
October 1, 2010. 
Roll call vote: 
Yes: Jessen, Johnson, Reichert, Mehigh, Sarrazin, Haskins. 
No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED 

 
CONSIDER LED LIGHTING BIDS:  Mr. Sawyer stated the city received two bids for LED light  

fixtures.  The bid from Robert C. Shaver Co. came in at $1,183 per light fixture and the bid 
from USCO, Inc. came in at $681 per retrofit light fixture.  One of the light fixtures from 
USCO, Inc. has been installed in front of city hall.  He personally likes it and the light pattern 
is different that the one on Corunna Avenue.  The pricing will make it possible to replace all 
of the downtown lighting.  He further stated Mr. Crawford likes the lighting from the Robert 
C. Shaver, Co. and is a little nervous about going with a different manufacturer, but he will be 
fine with whatever the city council decides.  Ms. Lawson advised the city might need to 
contribute about $2,500 in order to replace all 96 lights.  Ms. Lawson stated Mr. Shaver called 
her and she explained that another company had bid on the project who offered a retro kit.  
She informed Mr. Shaver that the other company was asked to send a sample of their retro kit 
so the city could try it out and that the city had not awarded the bid to anyone.  She then 
received a letter from Mr. Shaver which stated he was withdrawing his bid.  Mr. Sawyer 
advised the department of public works will be changing the lights out.  Johnson moved, 
Mehigh seconded to accept the bid from USCO, Inc. for the LED light fixtures in an amount 
not to exceed $65,202.     
Roll call vote: 
Yes: Reichert, Jessen, Sarrazin, Haskins, Mehigh, Johnson. 
No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED  
 

CALL TO AUDIENCE:  John Pajtas, County Commissioner, stated the county’s audit was 
completed last month and the county received an AA- rating compared to an A rating last 
year, which is an improvement.  The county’s 2010 taxable value is 4.2 percent lower than 
last year which means the county will have to make up about $243,000.  He further stated he 



 

is on the veteran’s committee and advised there are 5,856 veterans in Shiawassee County who 
received a total of $14,746,000 which includes disability payments, pensions, education 
money that was paid out, and insurance.  The Shiawassee County Veterans Committee gave 
out $18,753 over the last four months and has a budget around $147,000 for this year.  A new 
policy was established today for veterans who come in and ask for money which is something 
the auditors say has to be done that has not been done.  A record of who is asking for money, 
how much is being given and what it will be used for as well as the criteria it was given to 
them under.  About two hours was spent working on the criteria so money is not being given 
to non-veterans.  Councilperson Jessen asked if any of the money was being spent on legal 
fees.  Mr. Pajtas advised no.  There was some money spent to pay someone’s traffic fine but 
that will no longer happen.  Mr. Sawyer asked if there was criteria before.  Mr. Pajtas advised 
there was, but it was not followed.  Councilperson Haskins advised he has heard rumors and 
would like more information.  Councilperson Haskins advised yes.  Mr. Pajtas advised $2,100 
was given to a veteran to pay his electric or energy bill.  Mr. Sawyer asked if it was the 
veterans’ bill or his daughter’s bill.  Mr. Pajtas advised the veteran brought it in and it was 
paid, but it was his daughter’s bill.  The same veteran asked for $17,000 to put a new furnace 
in his house.  Mr. Sawyer asked if it was the veterans’ house or his daughter’s house.  Mr. 
Pajtas advised it was his daughter’s house.  Councilperson Jessen stated $17,000 was given to 
the veteran.  Mr. Pajtas advised yes.  Mr. Sawyer asked where the veterans’ daughter worked 
part time.  Mr. Pajtas advised she worked for the veterans’ affairs department.  Mr. Sawyer 
asked where the veterans’ wife worked.  Mr. Pajtas advised for The Independent.  Mr. Sawyer 
asked who covered the veterans’ affairs meetings.  Mr. Pajtas advised the veterans’ wife.  
Councilperson Haskins stated this is something the people should know about because a lot of 
things have happened because of inappropriate reporting.  Mr. Pajtas advised that is why she 
no longer attends the veterans’ affairs meetings or reports for The Independent on veterans’ 
affairs issues because of the biased news that she was putting out.  She reported that the 
veterans’ affairs committee could not get along with the board of commissioners.  
Councilperson Haskins asked what kind of furnace someone could get for $17,000.  Mr. 
Sawyer advised it was actually a boiler system.  Mr. Pajtas stated it was the best system that 
money could buy and included central air conditioning, filters, a heat pump, etc.  
Councilperson Sarrazin asked if this was approved by an individual.  Mr. Sawyer advised the 
committee approved it.  Mr. Pajtas stated the veterans’ affairs committee had two members 
who were trying to run the committee even after the county commissioners appointed three 
new members which the two board members refused to recognize.  The law specifically states 
a commissioner may be appointed to the veterans’ affairs committee, but that is not the law 
that Bus Spaniola referred to at one of the meetings.                    
 

EXECUTIVE SESSION TO CONSIDER LAND ACQUISITION:  Jessen moved, Reichert seconded  
to leave the regular session and enter executive session for the purpose of discussing land 
acquisition.   

  
Roll call vote: 

 Yes: Johnson, Reichert, Mehigh, Jessen, Haskins, Sarrazin. 
 No: None. 
   Motion CARRIED  Time was 8:05 p.m. 
 



 

 No action was taken during the executive session.  Jessen moved, Johnson seconded to leave  
the executive session and enter regular session. 

 Roll call vote: 
 Yes: Haskins, Jessen, Mehigh, Sarrazin, Johnson, Reichert. 
 No: None. 
   Motion CARRIED  Time was 8:26 p.m. 
   
ROUNDTABLE DISCUSSION:  Councilperson Reichert asked where the letter to the state about the  

dam stands.  Mr. Sawyer advised the dam committee met last week and made some changes 
in the response and it will be sent to the state.  He hoped to get the letter out last week but it 
did not happen.   

 
Councilperson Haskins advised on June 24-26, the bi-annual state wing evaluation for the 
Civil Air Patrol will be held at the airport.  The United States Air Force will be evaluating all 
of the Civil Air Patrols in the entire state.  It will be quite an event and about 2,000 gallons of 
fuel will be used.  There could be about 300 to 350 people and eight to 10 Civil Air Patrol 
planes at the airport.            
 
Councilperson Johnson advised she had nothing to discuss.           
 
Councilperson Sarrazin advised the boat launch needs to be a matter of focus.  He read 
something about it in the minutes and asked what is being done as far as drafting something.  
Mr. Sawyer advised nothing has been done about it yet.  Councilperson Sarrazin stated he 
does not want to forget about it because the same thing is going to happen next year and the 
next year.  He further stated he read that the veterans’ memorial dedication was huge and 
Debbie Bentley did a good job of making sure everything happened.  Mayor Kerridge advised 
the turn out was great.          
 
Councilperson Jessen apologized for missing the memorial dedication.  He heard there was a 
great turnout.   
 
Councilperson Mehigh advised he had nothing to discuss. 
 
Mayor Kerridge advised the Fourth of July fireworks are on board.  He talked to Meijers, The 
Argus Press and The Independent and they will all be contributing to the cost of the fireworks 
again this year.  Councilperson Jessen asked if the Fourth of July Commission would be 
making a donation.  Mayor Kerridge advised no, but the city will be fine with the show that 
will be put on.  He further advised the first softball practice will be held next Monday.  
Councilperson Haskins asked what day the game would be held.  Mayor Kerridge advised 
July 16 at 6 p.m.          
 

ADJOURN:  Jessen moved, Johnson seconded to adjourn. 
 Roll call vote: 
 Yes: Sarrazin, Mehigh, Jessen, Johnson, Reichert, Haskins. 

No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED  Time was 8:36 p.m.     



 

 
 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Charles Kerridge, Mayor    Nichole L. Cowdrey, Clerk/Treasurer 
 


